



Ph.D. Dissertation of Translational Medicine

Mechanism of Paroxysmal Downbeat Central Positional Nystagmus

체위 변환에 의해 발생하는 중추 발작 하방안진의 기전 규명

August 2022

Graduate School of Medicine Seoul National University Translational Medicine Major

Xia Ling

Mechanism of Paroxysmal Downbeat Central Positional Nystagmus

Ji Soo Kim

Submitting a Ph.D. Dissertation of Medicine

April 2022

Graduate School of Medicine Seoul National University Translational Medicine Major

Xia Ling

Confirming the Ph.D. Dissertation written by Xia Ling July 2022

Chair	Hee Joon Bae	_(Seal)
Vice Chair	Ji Soo Kim	_(Seal)
Examiner	Man Ho Kim	_(Seal)
Examiner	Ja Won Koo	_(Seal)
Examiner	Sun Uk Lee	_(Seal)

체위 변환에 의해 발생하는 중추 발작 하방안진의 기전 규명

지도교수 김 지 수

이 논문을 의학박사 학위논문으로 제출함 2022년 4월

> 서울대학교 대학원 의학과 중개의학 Xia Ling

 Xia Ling의 박사 학위논문을 인준함

 2022년 7월

위 원	년 장	바	희	준	(인)
부위	원장	김	지	수	(인)
위	원	김	만	হ	(인)
위	원	구	자	원	(인)
위	원	0	선	욱	(인)

Abstract

Mechanism of Paroxysmal Downbeat Central Positional Nystagmus

링시아(Xia Ling)

College of Medicine, Translational Medicine Major The Graduate School Seoul National University

Background: Central positional nystagmus (CPN) has increasingly attracted the attention of clinicians since it may mimick benign paroxysmal positional vertigo (BPPV). CPN is frequently associated with lesions involving the cerebellum or brainstem. CPN could be divided into paroxysmal and persistent forms according to its temporal characteristics. Recent works had provided some insights on the mechanisms of persistent and paroxysmal types of CPN respectively. Persistent CPN has been explained by erroneous neural processing within the velocity-storage circuit located in the brainstem and cerebellum that functions in estimating the angular head velocity, gravity direction, and inertial acceleration. While paroxysmal CPN was attributed to disinhibition and enhanced responses of the secondary vestibular neurons during the positioning due to lesions involving the nodulus and uvula, the mechanism of paroxysmal CPN requires further exploration.

Purpose: To elucidate the mechanism of paroxysmal CPN by determining the effects of head rotation velocity on the intensity of paroxysmal downbeat nystagmus induced during straight head hanging (SHH).

Methods: We prospectively recruited 21 patients with paroxysmal downbeat CPN induced during SHH at the Dizziness Center of Seoul National University Bundang Hospital from September 2018 to July 2019. Twenty-one patients had manual SHH at two different lying velocities, the fast (routine) and slow, and they also underwent SHH at different rotation velocities of 10, 20, 30, and 40 °/s using a motorized rotation chair. Induced nystagmus was recorded using video-oculography and the maximum slow phase velocity (SPV) and time constant (TC) of the induced paroxysmal nystagmus were analyzed.

Results: During manual SHH, paroxysmal downbeat nystagmus was invariably induced during routine (fast) SHH. In contrast, paroxysmal downbeat nystagmus was absent or minimal during slow positioning. During motorized SHH, the median of maximum intensity of downbeat nystagmus increased from 7.6 °/s (0–16.9) to 14.0 °/s (0–32.5), 16.5 °/s (0–44.6), and 19.1 °/s (0–55.2) as the rotation velocity increased from 10 to 20, 30, and 40°/s (P < 0.001, P < 0.001, P =0.004; linear mixed models). In contrast, the TCs of paroxysmal downbeat CPN remained unchanged (P = 0.558, P = 0.881, P = 0.384, linear mixed models).

Conclusion: The dependence of nystagmus intensity on head rotation velocity supports a disinhibited and exaggerated inhibitory rebound of the canal signals as the mechanism of paroxysmal CPN.

Keyword: vertigo, nystagmus, central positional nystagmus, downbeat nystagmus, mechanism

Student Number: 2019–32443

Table of Contents

Chapter 1. Introduction 1
Chapter 2. Materials and methods7
Chapter 3. Results 12
Chapter 4. Discussion 15
Chapter 5. Conclusion 21
Bibliography22
Figure legend and Figures
Table legend and tables
Abstract in Korean 42
Acknowledgment

List of Figures

Figure 3. Comparison of the maximum slow phase velocity (SPV) of paroxysmal downbeat nystagmus induced during slow

vi

List of Tables

Chapter 1. Introduction

1.1. Study Background

1.1.1. Historical of Central Positional Nystagmus

Positional nystagmus (PN) refers to nystagmus induced when the head position changes in the direction of gravity.⁴ PN was first described by Bàràny (1921), and he attributed it to a disorder of the otolithic organ.⁴ Fromm and Nylen (1935)²⁷ observed PN after sarcoma implantation in the posterior cranial fossa in labyrinthectomy and labyrinth-intact animals. Seiferth (1937)⁶¹ found that acute quinine intoxication in dogs produced PN, possibly of central origin. Nylén (1939)⁵⁶ described two types of PN in 279 out of 673 cases of brain tumors (230 posterior fossa tumors) and found that 90% of patients were posterior fossa tumors and 26% of patients were supratentorial neoplasms. Type 1 was direction-changing nystagmus, and type II was direction-fixed nystagmus. In 1950, Nylén classified and defined three main types of PN: direction-changing, direction fixed, and irregular.⁵⁷ He stated that both the peripheral and central disorders could lead to PN.⁵⁷ In 1952, Dix and Hallpike described the characteristics of benign paroxysmal positional vertigo (BPPV) and developed the diagnostic maneuver for posterior canal BPPV.²⁵ Several years later, Aschan et al. (1956) noted an important drawback in Nylén's classification, namely, that it did not consider whether nystagmus was persistent or transient

after head positioning.³ Aschan et al. changed Nylen's classification of PN into persistent direction-changing, persistent direction-fixed, and transitory (paroxysmal) types. ³ Subsequently, PN was mostly named clinically following Aschan's classification. As we can see above, PN can be seen in both peripheral and central vestibular disorders, of which central positional nystagmus (CPN) accounts for approximately 12%.^{48,50} CPN is frequently associated with lesions involving cerebellum and /or brainstem and because it may lead to the occurrence of malignant adverse events, CPN has increasingly attracted the attention of clinicians.⁵⁸

1.1.2. Structural Lesions and Underlying Disease

CPN was more common in lesions involving the cerebellum (74.4%), such as nodulus, uvula, tonsil, inferior, middle and superior cerebellar peduncles^{2,16,17,21,24,42,44}, followed by the fourth ventricle (14.6%), isolated brainstem lesions (8.5%), and diffuse or nonspecific lesions(6.1%).⁵⁰ The reported causes of CPN include cerebellar strokes, cerebellar tumors¹³, Chiari malformation³⁷, brainstem strokes⁴⁷, multiple sclerosis¹, multiple system atrophy⁴³, posterior fossa tumor¹⁷, hereditary cerebellar ataxia^{34,69}, vestibular migraine⁶⁷, antiepileptic drug poisoning¹⁸, heat stroke¹⁶, X–linked adrenoleukodystrophy³⁵ and paraneoplastic. etc. ^{23,24}

1.1.3. Characteristics of CPN

The classification and features of CPN are summarized in Table 1.

According to the temporal characteristics of nystagmus, CPN could be divided into persistent and paroxysmal forms.¹⁶ These two forms often coexist in a single individual patient, with an initial paroxysmal type, and gradually evolving into a persistent one.^{16,17,24} CPN mostly takes the form of apogeotropic ¹⁵ or geotropic ²¹ nystagmus when the head is turned to either side while supine, or downbeat nystagmus (DBN) after lying down or straight head hanging.¹⁴

Persistent CPN is featured by persistent downbeat with head hanging or upright and apogeotropic or geotropic after head-turning to either side while supine. Persistent downbeat nystagmus usually increases in the prone position and decreases in the supine position.⁵⁴ A recent study compared the features of persistent apogeotropic CPN that arose from unilateral cerebellar injuries with persistent apogeotropic nystagmus caused by horizontal canal BPPV.¹⁵ The study found that the intensity of spontaneous horizontal nystagmus did not differ between in upright position and in supine position in patients with unilateral cerebellar injuries, while it became more potent after changing from upright to supine position in patients with horizontal canal BPPV.¹⁵ And after subtracting the spontaneous component while supine, the intensity of the apogeotropic component induced by turning the head to the right or left side while supine did not differ. For persistent geotropic CPN, the peak intensity and asymmetry of geotropic positional nystagmus were reported to be similar in those with unilateral cerebellar lesions and with presumed light cupula.²¹

Paroxysmal CPN is featured by transient geotropic or apogeotropic

3

nystagmus after head-turning to either side while supine, and upbeat or downbeat nystagmus after lying down, straight head hanging (SHH) or sitting up.²⁴ The direction of paroxysmal CPN may occasionally reverse while maintaining head position.¹⁶ Of those, paroxysmal DBN while lying down or SHH is most common.¹⁶ Paroxysmal upbeat CPN induced by SHH and/or Dix-Hallpike maneuvers, and paroxysmal geotropic nystagmus induced by Pagnini-McClure maneuvers have rarely been reported.^{24,29,46} The intensity of paroxysmal downbeat CPN is peak at its onset or within 3-5s of its onset, usually along with severe vertigo, and then decreases exponentially.¹⁶ The time constant (TC) of paroxysmal downbeat CPN is about 4-6s, and is similar to that of the cupula in the vertical semicircular canals or that of the velocitystorage (VS) for the vertical rotational vestibulo-ocular reflex (VOR).¹⁶ Meanwhile, paroxysmal positional downbeat nystagmus may also be caused by an apogeotropic variant of posterior canal BPPV^{51,64} or anterior canal BPPV⁶⁶; and paroxysmal positional upbeat nystagmus may also be caused by canalolithiasis of the posterior canal.⁵¹ Paroxysmal geotropic nystagmus may also be caused by canalolithiasis of the horizontal canal.⁵⁹ But the slow phase velocity of the nystagmus mentioned above often showed a crescendo-decrescendo pattern.⁶⁵ This phenomenon could be used to differentiate paroxysmal CPN which peaks at its onset from benign paroxysmal positional nystagmus (BPPN). In addition, the effect of canalith repositioning therapy also helps to differentiate paroxysmal CPN from BPPN.⁴⁹ The remission of the vertigo and nystagmus after the application of the canal-specific

canalith repositioning therapy may be supportive of the diagnosis of BPPV.^{12,15,38,39,41,51}

1.1.4. Mechanism of CPN

Persistent CPN has been explained by erroneous neural processing within the velocity-storage circuit located in the brainstem and cerebellum that functions in estimating the angular head velocity, gravity direction, and inertial acceleration.¹⁵ The mechanism of paroxysmal CPN requires further exploration. In our previous study, the paroxysmal form of CPN mainly occurred in the planes of semicircular canals inhibited during the positioning and showed the features suggestive of a semicircular canal origin regarding the latency, duration, direction, and time constant of nystagmus.¹⁶ Most patients with paroxysmal CPN from a circumscribed lesion showed an involvement of the nodulus or uvula.¹⁶ Based on those findings, paroxysmal CPN was attributed to disinhibition and enhanced responses of the secondary vestibular neurons during the positioning due to lesions involving the nodulus and uvula.¹⁶ This is supported by an experimental study that observed paroxysmal DBN during positioning after removal of the nodulus and uvula.²⁶ In this instance, increment of the post-rotatory signals is invoked to generate paroxysmal CPN.¹⁶ For example, paroxysmal DBN observed during lying down or SHH is explained by transient over-activation of the anterior and/ or horizontal canals on both sides.¹⁶ According to this explanation, We speculated that the intensity of paroxysmal CPN would

5

depend on stimulation intensity of the semicircular canals during the positioning, and thus lying velocity (acceleration) in paroxysmal downbeat CPN.

1.2. Purpose of Research

This study aimed to determine the effect of lying (head rotation) velocity (acceleration) on the intensity of paroxysmal downbeat CPN induced during SHH by adopting a stepwise increase in the rotation velocity. We hypothesized that the intensity of induced nystagmus would increase in proportion to the lying velocity.

1.3. Publication Arising from This Thesis

Ling X, Kim HJ, Lee JH, Choi JY, Yang X, Kim JS. Positioning Velocity Matters in Central Paroxysmal Positional Vertigo: Implication for the Mechanism. Front Neurol. 2020 Oct 22;11:591602. doi: 10.3389/fneur.2020.591602. PMID: 33193058; PMCID: PMC7643012.

1.4. Publication Not Included in This Thesis

Ling X, Kim HJ, Lee JH, Choi JY, Yang X, Kim JS. Diagnostic Value of Straight Head Hanging in Posterior Canal Benign Paroxysmal Positional Vertigo. J Clin Neurol. 2021 Oct;17(4):558-562. doi: 10.3988/jcn.2021.17.4.558. PMID: 34595864; PMCID: PMC8490902.

Chapter 2. Materials and methods

2.1. Patients

We prospectively recruited 27 patients with paroxysmal downbeat CPN at the Dizziness Center of Seoul National University Bundang Hospital from September 2018 to July 2019. All experiments followed the tenets of the Declaration of Helsinki and this study was approved by the Institutional Review Board of Seoul National University Bundang Hospital (IRB No. B-1908/558-103).

All patients underwent detailed neuro-otologic evaluation by the senior author (J.S.K). The diagnosis of paroxysmal downbeat CPN was based on (1) paroxysmal downbeat nystagmus (< 1 minute) induced during SHH, (2) presence of other symptoms and signs indicative of brainstem or cerebellar dysfunction, or brainstem or cerebellar lesions documented on MRIs, and (3) no resolution of paroxysmal downbeat nystagmus with repeated canalith repositioning maneuvers for benign paroxysmal positional vertigo involving the anterior semicircular canals. Of the 27 patients, 21 (12 men, mean age \pm SD = 54.4 \pm 14.9 years) were finally included for analyses after excluding six patients due to (1) a duration of the paroxysmal nystagmus less than five seconds (n=1), (2) concomitant periodic alternating nystagmus that interfered accurate analyses of downbeat nystagmus (n=1), (3) an inconsistency; direction-

changing or alternating with horizontal nystagmus (intermittent, n=2), and (4) incomplete evaluation (n=2).

2.2. Oculography

Eye movements were recorded binocularly using 3-dimensional video-oculography (VOG, SLVNG®, SLMED, Seoul, South Korea). Spontaneous nystagmus was recorded both with and without visual fixation in the sitting position. Gaze-evoked nystagmus, horizontal smooth pursuit, horizontal and vertical saccades, and horizontal headshaking nystagmus were also evaluated. Gaze test: The patient sits on a chair, and the eyes are about 1.2 meters away from the target. The patient was instructed to look at the target displaced horizontally (30°) and vertically (15°) without the head motion. If nystagmus was induced, record the direction of nystagmus and slow phase velocity.³² Gazeevoked nystagmus was considered to be present when the nystagmus beats in the direction of gaze bilaterally.³² Saccade test: Horizontal and vertical saccades were generated by instructing the patient to follow a moving target on a light bar located 1.2 m away from where they sat, and the target amplitudes were fixed at $\pm 15^{\circ}$ and $\pm 30^{\circ}$. For each saccade, the latency, velocity, and accuracy were computed. Head shaking test: Instruct the patient to sit upright on a chair with the head tilted forward about 20° to bring the horizontal semicircular canal into the plane of stimulation, and the examiner holds the patient's head while shaking the patient's head horizontally to the left and right for 15

seconds, with an amplitude of about 20° and a frequency of 2-3 Hz. Start recording after shaking the patient's head, instruct the patient to open his eyes after stopping shaking his head, and record for at least 1 min. Observe whether nystagmus occurs. If nystagmus occurs, record the direction, duration, and slow phase velocity of nystagmus.^{19,31,32} Smooth pursuit (SP) test: The patient sits on a chair, the head is fixed in the neutral position, and the eyes are about 1.2 meters away from an illuminated red target. The red target moves along a sinusoidal trajectory with peak velocities of 10°/s and 20°/s.³⁶ After eliminating saccades detected based on the velocity threshold criterion (100°/s), smooth pursuit gain was determined as the ratio of peak eye velocity to peak target velocity.³⁶

2.3. Positioning maneuvers

All patients had manual SHH at both fast (routine) and slow lying velocities. During the fast SHH, patients were laid from the sitting position onto the lying down position with the head extended about 30 degrees below the table. During the fast SHH, this positioning was performed at a routine velocity and was completed usually within three seconds (two to four seconds). Thus, the mean head rotation velocity was about 40°/s during the fast SHH test. During the slow SHH, the patients assumed the same position over about 35 seconds (from 25 to 51 seconds) with an assistance by the examiner. Thus, the mean head rotation velocity was approximately 3-4 °/s during the slow SHH

(Figure. 1).

All patients also underwent SHH at different rotation velocities of 10, 20, 30, and 40 °/s using a 3-dimensional motorized rotation chair (SLRVT[®], SLMED, Seoul, South Korea, Figure.2). During this maneuver, the patients were tilted backward 100 ° from the sitting position without extending the neck at each rotation velocity.

In each testing condition, the SHH position was maintained until the positional nystagmus disappeared or at least for one minute. The positional nystagmus was recorded at a sampling rate of 120 Hz without visual fixation in darkness using video-oculography (VOG, SLVNG[®], SLMED, Seoul, South Korea).

2.4. Analyses of nystagmus

Digitized eye position data were analyzed with MATLAB software (version R2019b, The MathWorks, Inc., MA, USA). For each paroxysmal CPN, the intensity (maximum slow phase velocity, SPV) and time constant (TC) were calculated. When persistent CPN was combined with the paroxysmal one, we calculated the maximum SPV and TC of paroxysmal CPN after subtracting the persistent component from the velocity profile of induced positional nystagmus.

2.5. Statistical analysis

Statistical analyses were performed using SPSS software (version

20.0, IBM SPSS Statistics, N.Y., USA). Continuous variables were expressed as a mean \pm SD for parametric values or as a median (range) for nonparametric ones. Counting variables were expressed as a percentage. Normality of the data was determined using the Shapiro-Wilk test. Linear mixed model analysis was used to determine any difference in the maximum SPV and TC of paroxysmal downbeat CPN among the test conditions that had adopted different rotation velocities using a motorized rotation chair. The level of statistical significance for the linear mixed model analyses was corrected using the Bonferroni method, and the corrected level of significance was set at 0.0083 (0.05/6) since the comparisons were performed six times in each group. The Wilcoxon signed ranks test were used to determine any difference in the maximum SPVs of paroxysmal downbeat CPN induced during the fast and slow SHH and maximum SPVs of paroxysmal downbeat CPN induced during the fast SHH and motorized positioning test at a rotation velocity of 40.0° /s, and the paired t-test was used to determine any difference in the TCs of paroxysmal downbeat CPN induced during the fast SHH and motorized positioning test at a rotation velocity of 40.0 $^\circ$ /s. The significance threshold was set at a 2-sided P value less than 0.05.

Chapter 3. Results

3.1. Clinical characteristics

Underlying disorders included cerebellar ataxia (n = 7), spinocerebellar ataxia (n = 6), episodic ataxia (n = 4), Chiari malformation (n = 1), multiple system atrophy-cerebellar subtype (n =1) and no etiology was identified in the remaining two patients.

During visual fixation, eight patients (38.1%) showed spontaneous nystagmus that was pure downbeat in seven, and mixed horizontal and downbeat in the remaining one. The SPV of downbeat nystagmus ranged from 0.7 to 8.2° /s (median = 2.0). Without visual fixation in darkness, 15 patients (71.4%) showed spontaneous nystagmus that was pure downbeat in eight, mixed horizontal-downbeat in five, pure horizontal in one, and mixed horizontal-upbeat in the remaining one. The SPV of downbeat nystagmus ranged from 1.1 to $8.7^{\circ}/s$ (median = 3.1) without visual fixation in darkness. After horizontal head-shaking, 18 patients (85.7%) showed nystagmus that was mixed horizontaldownbeat in 11, pure downbeat in five, and pure horizontal in two. Gaze-evoked nystagmus was found in 14 patients (66.7%), and eight of them also showed rebound nystagmus. Horizontal smooth pursuit was impaired in 14 patients (66.7%). Horizontal saccades were abnormal in 11 patients (52.4%); hypermetric in six, hypometric in four, and hypometric and slow in one (Table 2).

3.2. Manual SHH

All 21 patients showed paroxysmal downbeat CPN during the routine (fast) positioning, and only two of them showed downbeat nystagmus during the slow SHH (Table 3). During the routine SHH, the downbeat CPN was pure paroxysmal in 16 and mixed paroxysmal and persistent in five patients. The paroxysmal downbeat CPN showed a peak initially in 19 patients (90.5%) and reached its peak within 2.5 seconds in the remaining two. After then, the nystagmus decreased exponentially. The maximum SPV of positional downbeat nystagmus ranged from 4.6 to 65.6° /s (median = 19.8, mean ± SD = 23.4 ± 14.7), and the TC ranged from 1.1 to 7.4 seconds (median = 3.5, mean \pm SD = 3.8 \pm 1.8) during the fast SHH. During the slow SHH, the maximum SPVs for the two patients with discernable positional downbeat nystagmus were 10.4 and 12.3°/s with the TCs at 1.3 and 3.7 seconds. Thus, there was a significant rise in the maximum SPV of paroxysmal downbeat CPN as the lying velocity increased (Z = -4.02, Wilcoxon signed ranks test, P <0.001, (Table 3, Figure. 3).

3.3. Motorized rotation chair test

The median of maximum SPV of paroxysmal downbeat CPN was 7.6 °/s (range: 0-16.9; mean \pm SD = 7.2 \pm 5.7) at the rotation velocity of 10°/s, which increased to 14.0 °/s (range: 0-32.5; mean \pm

SD =14.6 ± 8.1) at 20°/s, 16.5°/s (range: 0-44.6; mean ± SD = 17.6 ± 9.5) at 30°/s, and 19.1°/s (range: 0-55.2; mean ± SD = 20.5 ± 12.1) at 40°/s. Thus, there was a significant rise in the maximum SPV of paroxysmal downbeat CPN as the lying velocity increased [(95% CI, -18.42 to -8.19), P < 0.001; (95% CI, -8.95 to -3.00), P < 0.001; (95% CI, -4.84 to -1.06), P = 0.004; Linear mixed model; Figure. 4A]. In contrast, the TCs of paroxysmal downbeat nystagmus remained at about 3.5 seconds without a difference among the four testing conditions [(95% CI, -1.12 to 0.62), P = 0.558; (95% CI, -0.51 to 0.60), P = 0.881; (95% CI, -0.29 to 0.70), P = 0.384, Linear mixed model, Figure. 4B].

Six patients showed both paroxysmal and persistent components of positional nystagmus, and the persistent nystagmus was upbeat $(0.2-3.1^{\circ}/s)$ in five and downbeat $(3.1^{\circ}/s)$ in one.

3.4. Comparison of manual and motorized SHH

We compared the maximum SPVs and TCs of the paroxysmal downbeat nystagmus between the manual fast SHH and motorized SHH test at the rotation velocity of 40 °/s since the head rotation velocities were similar for those testing conditions, and found that the maximum SPVs [19.1 (0-55.2) versus 19.8 (4.6-65.6) °/s, Z = -1.06, Wilcoxon signed ranks test, P = 0.29] and TCs [3.8 ± 1.9 versus 3.4 ± 1.6 seconds, (95% CI, -0.02 - 0.92), paired t-test, P = 0.06] (Figure 5) of the paroxysmal downbeat CPN induced during both tests were similar.

Chapter 4. Discussion

We found that the intensity of paroxysmal downbeat CPN during SHH depends on the rotation velocity (acceleration) of the head during the positioning while the TC was not affected by the rotation velocity. Furthermore, the intensity of positional downbeat nystagmus increases in proportion to the positioning velocity during the motorized rotatory chair tests.

Previous studies described two types of CPN, the paroxysmal and persistent, even though the underlying pathologies were similarly located in the cerebellum, mostly in the nodulus and uvula.¹⁶ In this study, most patients showed diffuse cerebellar dysfunction in association with the hereditary or acquired forms of ataxia. However, most of our patients with paroxysmal CPN also showed neurological signs indicating dysfunction of the vestibulocerebellum which included spontaneous downbeat nystagmus, gaze–evoked nystagmus, perverted head–shaking nystagmus, hypometric and hypermetric saccades, and impaired smooth pursuit.^{32,33,60} Since these ocular motor findings cannot be explained by BPPV, detailed ocular motor examinations could be attributed to differentiate paroxysmal CPN from BPPN.

In this study, the intensity of paroxysmal downbeat CPN induced during SHH depended on the positioning velocity during either manual SHH or the whole-body rotation using a motorized chair. Indeed, most patients showed no or minimal downbeat nystagmus during SHH when the positioning was performed at a very slow speed. This was also observed in a previous study on spontaneous downbeat nystagmus even though the detailed findings or mechanisms were not explored.⁷ In this study, the TCs of paroxysmal downbeat CPN remained similar at about 3.5 seconds among the different testing conditions, which are similar to the TCs of the vertical semicircular canals.^{9,10,55} These characteristics of paroxysmal downbeat nystagmus observed in this study are consistent with those found in our previous study on paroxysmal CPN regarding its maximum at onset, short duration with a TC around four seconds, and alignment of the nystagmus direction with the vector sum of the rotational axes of the semicircular canals that are normally inhibited during the positioning.¹⁶ Based on these findings. we previously proposed that paroxysmal CPN is generated by disinhibition and enhanced responses of the secondary vestibular neurons during positioning due to cerebellar dysfunction.¹⁶ The similar TCs regardless of different nystagmus intensity in each testing condition are consistent with the findings observed in previous studies on the attenuation of nystagmus but constant TC during rotations having adopted a stepwise increase in the head rotation velocity.^{62,63}

The first-order neurons from the horizontal semicircular canal have a resting discharge and the firing rate increases during head rotation that induces an ampullopetal flow of the endolymph and decreases during head motion that produces an ampullofugal flow of the endolymph. The reverse holds for the vertical semicircular canals.^{5,28} Within a specific dynamic range, this increase or decrease of action potentials is directly proportional to the magnitude of head acceleration or deceleration.²⁸ The primary vestibular afferents are classified into regular and irregular types according to their discharge properties.²⁸ The irregular afferents are related to the adaption response and the velocity-storage mechanism. The adaption response reflects two aspects of the unit's discharge. The first is a response decline to prolonged acceleration during both excitatory and inhibitory accelerations. The second is the secondary phenomenon in which the discharge declines rapidly and reverses its direction when it goes below the resting rate and gradually returns to the resting level in an approximately exponential fashion during the recovery period.²⁸ We speculated that the lesions involving vestibulocerebellum disinhibit the irregular afferents and result in the exaggerated post-acceleratory secondary phenomenon.¹⁶ The function of the velocity-storage mechanism is to estimate the gravitational direction which integrates the rotation cues from the semicircular signals, and there is a rotation feedback loop inside the velocity-storage mechanism, which used to adjusts the estimated gravitational direction to real gravitational direction.¹⁶ Lesions involving the vestibulocerebellum will disinhibit the irregular afferents and cause an exaggerated post-acceleratory secondary response, and lead to a big difference between the estimated gravitational direction and the real gravitational direction which leads to the post-rotatary nystagmus.¹⁶ During SHH, the irregular vestibular fibers from both posterior semicircular canals are

mostly activated and this activation is followed by transient inhibitory rebound (post-acceleratory secondary phenomenon).²⁸ When this secondary inhibition becomes prominent due to dysfunction of the vestibulocerebellum, the exaggerated inhibitory signals conveyed to the vestibular storage mechanism may generate nystagmus through the rotational feedback mechanism.¹⁶ In this scenario, the degree of post-acceleratory depression would depend on the strength of head acceleration during positioning, which forms the basis of this study. Indeed, the intensity of paroxysmal downbeat CPN induced during SHH depended on the positioning head velocity.

Several studies showed that transient compression of the vertebral arteries during neck rotation or extension may reduce the blood supply to the peripheral or the central parts of the vestibular system and give rise to paroxysmal downbeat nystagmus along with vertigo and tinnitus.^{20,53,70} The presumed mechanism was excitation of unilateral or bilateral anterior semicircular canals.^{20,53,70} Thus, paroxysmal downbeat nystagmus may be induced by head extension during SHH. However, in our study, only two patients (9.5%) showed paroxysmal downbeat CPN during the manual slow SHH test, and all patients showed paroxysmal downbeat allow any neck motion during the positioning. Thus, the role of head extension, if any, in generating paroxysmal downbeat nystagmus could have been minimal in our study.

Four patients showed an evolution of initial positional downbeat into upbeat nystagmus over four to fifteen seconds. This reversal in the direction of induced nystagmus is observed in various conditions including benign paroxysmal positional vertigo^{6,22,45}, head-shaking nystagmus³⁰, caloric stimulation¹¹, and vertebral artery occlusion syndrome²⁰, and may be ascribed to short-term adaption of the vestibular imbalance.

There are several limitations in our study. First, we only quantified paroxysmal downbeat CPN, and did not include other types of paroxysmal CPN such as geotropic or apogeotropic horizontal nystagmus during head turning to either side while supine. However, our observation was also similar in apogeotropic CPN. Second, for the patient's safety, we set the maximum rotation velocity at 40 °/s during motorized chair rotation. Thus, the characteristics of paroxysmal CPN during the head rotation at higher velocities remain to be determined. Third, due to severe vertigo, some patients involuntarily closed their eyes just after the positioning, and this might have biased the maximal SPV and TC. Fourth, we couldn't measure the accurate acceleration and deceleration of the head movement during the SHH tests, so it was not possible to further elucidate the effects of velocity and acceleration on paroxysmal CPN. Finally, we did not set up a normal control group. According to previous reports, the occurrence of PN in healthy controls was described as between 22.5 - 88%.68 The intensity of vertical PN was mostly less than 6.48°/s, and the paroxysmal type of PN is less common in healthy subjects.⁵² Some scholars even argued that PN only occurs in the presence of peripheral or central vestibular dysfunction, reflecting perhaps some degree of ischemia of the caudal brainstem or cerebellum or an actual mass lesion in these areas.^{8,40} In this study, most patients showed stronger (mostly > 10°/s) and paroxysmal CPN during the routine SHH test, which did not accord with the characteristics of physiological PN.

Chapter 5. Conclusion

This study revealed that the intensity of positional downbeat nystagmus increases in proportion to the positioning velocity (head rotation velocity) while the TC was not affected by the rotation velocity supports a disinhibited and exaggerated inhibitory rebound of the canal signals as the mechanism of paroxysmal CPN. The characteristics of CPN and associated ocular motor findings could be used to differentiate central from peripheral positional nystagmus.

Bibliography

- Anagnostou E, Mandellos D, Limbitaki G, Papadimitriou A, Anastasopoulos D. Positional nystagmus and vertigo due to a solitary brachium conjunctivum plaque. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry. 2006;77(6):790-792.
- Anagnostou E, Varaki K, Anastasopoulos D. A minute demyelinating lesion causing acute positional vertigo. J Neurol Sci. 2008;266(1-2):187-189.
- Aschan G, Bergstedt M, Stahle J. Nystagmography; recording of nystagmus in clinical neuro-otological examinations. Acta otolaryngologica Supplementum. 1956;129:1-103.
- Bárány E. Diagnose yon krankheitserscheinungen im bereiche des otolithenapparates. Acta Oto-Laryngologica. 1920;2(3):434-437.
- Baloh RW, Honrubia V, Konrad HR. Ewald's second law reevaluated. Acta Otolaryngol. 1977;83(5-6):475-479.
- Baloh RW, Jacobson K, Honrubia V. Horizontal semicircular canal variant of benign positional vertigo. Neurology. 1993;43(12):2542-2549.
- Baloh RW, Spooner JW. Downbeat nystagmus: a type of central vestibular nystagmus. Neurology. 1981;31(3):304-310.

- Barber HO. Positional nystagmus. Otolaryngol Head Neck Surg. 1984;92(6):649-655.
- Bertolini G, Bockisch CJ, Straumann D, Zee DS, Ramat S. Do humans show velocity-storage in the vertical rVOR? Prog Brain Res. 2008;171:207-210.
- Bertolini G, Ramat S. Velocity storage in the human vertical rotational vestibulo-ocular reflex. Exp Brain Res. 2011;209(1):51-63.
- 11. Bock O, von Koschitzky H, Zangemeister WH. Vestibular adaptation to long-term stimuli. Biol Cybern. 1979;33(2):77-79.
- Casani AP, Cerchiai N, Dallan I, Sellari-Franceschini S. Anterior canal lithiasis: diagnosis and treatment. Otolaryngol Head Neck Surg. 2011;144(3):412-418.
- Cho BH, Kim SH, Kim SS, Choi YJ, Lee SH. Central positional nystagmus associated with cerebellar tumors: Clinical and topographical analysis. Journal of the neurological sciences. 2017;373:147-151.
- Choi J-Y, Kim J-S. Positional Downbeat Nystagmus. In: Shaikh A, Ghasia F, eds. Advances in Translational Neuroscience of Eye Movement Disorders. Cham: Springer International Publishing; 2019:191-201.
- 15. Choi JY, Glasauer S, Kim JH, Zee DS, Kim JS. Characteristics

and mechanism of apogeotropic central positional nystagmus. Brain. 2018;141(3):762-775.

- Choi JY, Kim JH, Kim HJ, Glasauer S, Kim JS. Central paroxysmal positional nystagmus: Characteristics and possible mechanisms. Neurology. 2015;84(22):2238-2246.
- Choi JY, Kim JS. Central positional nystagmus: Characteristics and model-based explanations. Prog Brain Res. 2019;249:211– 225.
- Choi JY, Park YM, Woo YS, et al. Perverted head-shaking and positional downbeat nystagmus in pregabalin intoxication. Journal of the neurological sciences. 2014;337(1-2):243-244.
- Choi KD, Oh SY, Park SH, et al. Head-shaking nystagmus in lateral medullary infarction: patterns and possible mechanisms. Neurology. 2007;68(17):1337-1344.
- Choi KD, Shin HY, Kim JS, et al. Rotational vertebral artery syndrome: oculographic analysis of nystagmus. Neurology. 2005;65(8):1287-1290.
- Choi SY, Jang JY, Oh EH, et al. Persistent geotropic positional nystagmus in unilateral cerebellar lesions. Neurology. 2018;91(11):e1053-e1057.
- 22. Choi SY, Lee MJ, Oh EH, Choi JH, Choi KD. Short-Term Central Adaptation in Benign Paroxysmal Positional Vertigo. Front

Neurol. 2020;11:260.

- Choi SY, Park SH, Kim HJ, Kim JS. Paraneoplastic downbeat nystagmus associated with cerebellar hypermetabolism especially in the nodulus. Journal of the neurological sciences. 2014;343(1-2):187-191.
- 24. De Schutter E, Adham ZO, Kattah JC. Central positional vertigo: A clinical-imaging study. Prog Brain Res. 2019;249:345-360.
- Dix MR, Hallpike CS. The pathology symptomatology and diagnosis of certain common disorders of the vestibular system. Proc R Soc Med. 1952;45(6):341-354.
- Fernandez C, Alzate R, Lindsay JR. Experimental observations on postural nystagmus. II. Lesions of the nodulus. Ann Otol Rhinol Laryngol. 1960;69:94-114.
- Fromm B, Nylén C. Contribution to the Symptomatology of Transplanted Brain Tumors in Rats with and without Labyrinth. Acta oto-laryng. 1935;23:1.
- Goldberg JM, Fernandez C. Physiology of peripheral neurons innervating semicircular canals of the squirrel monkey. I. Resting discharge and response to constant angular accelerations. J Neurophysiol. 1971;34(4):635-660.
- 29. Habek M, Gabelić T, Pavliša G, Brinar VV. Central positioning upbeat nystagmus and vertigo due to pontine stroke. Journal of

clinical neuroscience : official journal of the Neurosurgical Society of Australasia. 2011;18(7):977-978.

- Hain TC, Fetter M, Zee DS. Head-shaking nystagmus in patients with unilateral peripheral vestibular lesions. Am J Otolaryngol. 1987;8(1):36-47.
- Huh YE, Kim JS. Bedside evaluation of dizzy patients. J Clin Neurol. 2013;9(4):203-213.
- 32. Huh YE, Koo JW, Lee H, Kim JS. Head-shaking aids in the diagnosis of acute audiovestibular loss due to anterior inferior cerebellar artery infarction. Audiol Neurootol. 2013;18(2):114-124.
- Kheradmand A, Zee DS. Cerebellum and ocular motor control. Front Neurol. 2011;2:53.
- 34. Kim JS, Kim JS, Youn J, et al. Ocular motor characteristics of different subtypes of spinocerebellar ataxia: distinguishing features. Movement disorders : official journal of the Movement Disorder Society. 2013;28(9):1271-1277.
- Kim SH, Kim SS, Ha H, Lee SH. X-linked adrenoleukodystrophy presenting with positional downbeat nystagmus. Neurology. 2016;86(23):2214-2215.
- Kim SH, Park YH, Kim S, Kim JS. Impaired Smooth Pursuit During Transient Global Amnesia. J Clin Neurol.

2019;15(3):301-307.

- 37. Kim YC, Yim CD, Lee HJ, Hur DG, Ahn SK. Arnold-Chiari Type
 1 Malformation Mimicking Benign Paroxysmal Positional Vertigo.
 Res Vestib Sci. 2019;18(3):87-90.
- Kim YK, Shin JE, Chung JW. The effect of canalith repositioning for anterior semicircular canal canalithiasis. ORL J Otorhinolaryngol Relat Spec. 2005;67(1):56-60.
- 39. Korres S, Riga M, Sandris V, Danielides V, Sismanis A. Canalithiasis of the anterior semicircular canal (ASC): treatment options based on the possible underlying pathogenetic mechanisms. Int J Audiol. 2010;49(8):606-612.
- LEBO C. Neuro-Otological Examination With Special Reference to Equilibrium Function Tests. Archives of Otolaryngology. 1977;103(12):744-744.
- Lechner C, Taylor RL, Todd C, et al. Causes and characteristics of horizontal positional nystagmus. J Neurol. 2014;261(5):1009– 1017.
- 42. Lee HJ, Kim ES, Kim M, et al. Isolated horizontal positional nystagmus from a posterior fossa lesion. Ann Neurol. 2014;76(6):905-910.
- 43. Lee JY, Lee WW, Kim JS, et al. Perverted head-shaking and positional downbeat nystagmus in patients with multiple system

atrophy. Mov Disord. 2009;24(9):1290-1295.

- Lee S-U, Kim H-J, Lee E-S, et al. Central positional nystagmus in inferior cerebellar peduncle lesions: a case series. Journal of Neurology. 2021;268(8):2851-2857.
- 45. Lee SH, Kim MK, Cho KH, Kim JS. Reversal of initial positioning nystagmus in benign paroxysmal positional vertigo involving the horizontal canal. Ann N Y Acad Sci. 2009;1164:406-408.
- Lee SU, Park SH, Park JJ, et al. Dorsal Medullary Infarction: Distinct Syndrome of Isolated Central Vestibulopathy. Stroke. 2015;46(11):3081-3087.
- 47. Lemos J, Martins AI, Duque C, et al. Positional Testing in Acute Vestibular Syndrome: a Transversal and Longitudinal Study. Otol Neurotol. 2019;40(2):e119-e129.
- Lemos J, Strupp M. Central positional nystagmus: an update. J Neurol. 2021.
- 49. Ling X, Zhao DH, Shen B, et al. Clinical Characteristics of Patients With Benign Paroxysmal Positional Vertigo Diagnosed Based on the Diagnostic Criteria of the Barany Society. Front Neurol. 2020;11:602.
- Macdonald NK, Kaski D, Saman Y, et al. Central Positional Nystagmus: A Systematic Literature Review. Front Neurol. 2017;8:141.

- Mandala M, Salerni L, Nuti D. Benign Positional Paroxysmal Vertigo Treatment: a Practical Update. Curr Treat Options Neurol. 2019;21(12):66.
- 52. Martens C, Goplen FK, Nordfalk KF, Aasen T, Nordahl SH. Prevalence and Characteristics of Positional Nystagmus in Normal Subjects. Otolaryngol Head Neck Surg. 2016;154(5):861-867.
- Marti S, Hegemann S, von Budingen HC, Baumgartner RW, Straumann D. Rotational vertebral artery syndrome: 3D kinematics of nystagmus suggest bilateral labyrinthine dysfunction. J Neurol. 2008;255(5):663-667.
- Marti S, Palla A, Straumann D. Gravity dependence of ocular drift in patients with cerebellar downbeat nystagmus. Ann Neurol. 2002;52(6):712-721.
- Morita M, Imai T, Kazunori S, et al. A new rotational test for vertical semicircular canal function. Auris Nasus Larynx. 2003;30(3):233-237.
- Nylén CO. The oto-neunological diagnosis of tumors of the brain.
 Acta Otolaryngol Suppl (Stockh). 1939;33:29-31.
- 57. Nylen CO. Positional nystagmus; a review and future prospects.J Laryngol Otol. 1950;64(6):295-318.
- 58. Oh EH, Kim H, Choi SY, Choi KD, Choi JH. Paroxysmal central

positional nystagmus responsive to clonazepam. Journal of neurology. 2021.

- Oron Y, Cohen-Atsmoni S, Len A, Roth Y. Treatment of horizontal canal BPPV: pathophysiology, available maneuvers, and recommended treatment. Laryngoscope. 2015;125(8):1959– 1964.
- Patel VR, Zee DS. The cerebellum in eye movement control: nystagmus, coordinate frames and disconjugacy. Eye (Lond). 2015;29(2):191-195.
- Seiferth L. Die Bedeutung des Lagenystagmus für die otologische und neurologische Diagnostik. Archiv für Ohren-, Nasen-und Kehlkopfheilkunde. 1937;143(1):52-74.
- Sills AW, Honrubia V. A new method for determining impulsive time constants and their application to clinical data. Otolaryngology. 1978;86(1):ORL-81-89.
- Sills AW, Honrubia V, Baloh RW. Is the adaptation model a valid description of the vestibulo-ocular reflex? Biol Cybern. 1978;30(4):209-220.
- 64. Vannucchi P, Pecci R, Giannoni B. Posterior semicircular canal benign paroxysmal positional vertigo presenting with torsional downbeating nystagmus: an apogeotropic variant. Int J Otolaryngol. 2012;2012:413603.

- 65. von Brevern M, Bertholon P, Brandt T, et al. Benign paroxysmal positional vertigo: Diagnostic criteria. J Vestib Res. 2015;25(3-4):105-117.
- 66. Yang X, Ling X, Shen B, et al. Diagnosis strategy and Yacovino maneuver for anterior canal-benign paroxysmal positional vertigo. J Neurol. 2019;266(7):1674-1684.
- Young AS, Nham B, Bradshaw AP, et al. Clinical, oculographic, and vestibular test characteristics of vestibular migraine. Cephalalgia. 2021;41(10):1039-1052.
- Young AS, Rosengren SM, D'Souza M, Bradshaw AP, Welgampola MS. Nystagmus characteristics of healthy controls. J Vestib Res. 2020;30(6):345-352.
- Yu-Wai-Man P, Gorman G, Bateman DE, Leigh RJ, Chinnery PF. Vertigo and vestibular abnormalities in spinocerebellar ataxia type 6. J Neurol. 2009;256(1):78-82.
- 70. Yun SY, Lee JY, Kwon EJ, et al. Compression of both vertebral arteries during neck extension: a new type of vertebral artery compression syndrome. Journal of Neurology. 2019.

Figure legend and Figures

Figure 1. Recording of paroxysmal downbeat nystagmus during manual straight head hanging in patient 21. With slow positioning, no discernable nystagmus was induced, and the pre-existing spontaneous downbeat nystagmus was even suppressed. During fast positioning, in contrast, paroxysmal downbeat nystagmus was induced for several seconds. Only the vertical eye motion is presented and the shaded areas in pink indicate the period of positioning. Upward deflection denotes upward eye motion in each recording.



Figure 2. Recording of paroxysmal downbeat nystagmus induced during motorized rotation chair test at four different rotation velocities in patient 21. The intensity of induced downbeat nystagmus increased as the rotation velocity was escalated from 10 to 40°/s. The paroxysmal downbeat nystagmus was followed by a small upbeat nystagmus. Only the vertical eye motion is presented and the shaded areas in pink indicate the period of positioning. Upward deflection denotes upward eye motion in each recording.



Figure 3. Comparison of the maximum slow phase velocity (SPV) of paroxysmal downbeat nystagmus induced during slow and fast manual straight head hanging tests in each patient.

During slow positioning, only two patients showed paroxysmal downbeat CPN, which became larger during fast positioning. In contrast, paroxysmal downbeat nystagmus was observed in all patients after fast positioning.



SPV, slow phase velocity

Figure 4. The maximum slow phase velocity (SPV, A) and time constant (B) of paroxysmal downbeat nystagmus induced during motorized rotation chair test at four different rotation velocities. As the rotation velocity was escalated from 10 to 40°/s, the maximum slow phase velocity of induced downbeat nystagmus increased while the time constant remained unchanged.



SPV, slow phase velocity

Figure 5. Comparison of the maximum slow phase velocity (SPV) and time constant of paroxysmal downbeat nystagmus induced during fast manual straight head hanging (SHH) and 40°/s of motorized SHH tests. There was no difference in maximum SPVs and time constant of induced downbeat nystagmus between two tests.



Table legend and tables

Table 1.	Classification	of	central	positional	nystagmus
----------	----------------	----	---------	------------	-----------

Classification	Features	Mechanism
Paroxysmal (<30s)	 Frequently multiplanar and aligned Downbeat nystagmus during SHH, lying down and Dix-Hallpike maneuver Upbeat nystagmus when resuming upright position Apogeotropic nystagmus after head-turning to either side while supine Rarely observed Upbeat nystagmus during SHH, lying down and/or Dix-Hallpike maneuver Upbeat nystagmus after head-turning to either side while supine Geotropic nystagmus after head-turning to either side while supine 	Disinhibition and enhanced responses of the secondary vestibular neurons during the positioning due to lesions involving the vestibulocerebellum
Persistent (>1min)	 Apogeotropic nystagmus after head- turning to either side while supine Geotropic nystagmus after head-turning to either side while supine Downbeat nystagmus during SHH, lying down, and/or Dix-Hallpike maneuver, and downbeat nystagmus usually increases in the prone position and decreases in the supine position Upbeat nystagmus after head-turning to either side while supine 	Erroneous neural processing within the velocity-storage circuit located in the brainstem and cerebellum that functions in estimating the angular head velocity, gravity direction, and inertial acceleration

SHH, straight head hanging

Pt	Etiology	Sex/Ag e	SN fix	SN non- fix	GEN	HSN	Saccade_H	Saccade_V
1	SCA 6	M/56	-	D	_	R+D	-	-
2	ACM	F/66	D	R+D	+ (REB)	R→L+D	ND	ND
3	SCA	F/45	D	R+D	+ (REB)	R+D	-	-
4	CA	F/70	-	L	+ (REB)	-	Hypo(L)	Hypo(B)
5	CA	F/72	-	_	+ (REB)	R→L	Hype(B)	Hypo(B)
6	SCA 1	M/62	-	D	_	R→L+D	-	-
7	EA2	F/22	D	R+D	_	L→R+D	ND	ND
8	CA	M/48	-	-	+	D	Hypo(B), slow	ND
								Hypo(up),hype(do
9	CA	F/43	-	D	_	R+D	Hype(B)	wn)
10	CA	M/72	-	L+D	-	L+D	Hypo(B)	ND
								Hypo(up),hype(do
11	CA	M/47	-	U+OF	+	-	Hype(B)	wn)
12	CVUE	M/67	D	D	+	D	_	-
13	EA2	M/16	D	D	+ (REB)	L+D	_	-
14	EA	M/48	-	D	-	D	ND	ND
15	CA	F/55	-	_	+ (REB)	-	Hypo(B)	ND
16	SCA	M/66	D	D	+	R→L+D	_	-
17	SCA	F/48	-	-	+ (REB)	D	Hype(B)	ND
18	MSA-C	F/56	-	_	-	D	Hypo(B)	-
10	ΓA	M/G2	_	_	т	D + D	_	Hypo(up),hype(do
19	EA	M/03	_	_	т	K+ D	_	wn)
20	CVUE	M/55	D	D	+	R	Hype(B)	ND
21	SCA	M/65	D+ SWJ	D+SO	+ (REB)	L→R+D	Hype(B)	Hyper(B)

 Table 2. Ocular motor findings in patients with paroxysmal downbeat

 central positional nystagmus

ACM, Arnold-Chiari malformation; APAN, aperiodic alternating nystagmus; B: both directions;CA, cerebellar ataxia; CVUE, central vertigo with unknown etiology; D, downbeat nystagmus; EA, episodic ataxia; F, female; GEN, gaze evoked nystagmus; HSN, head shaking nystagmus; Hype: hypermetria; Hypo: hypometria; L, left beating nystagmus; M, male; Max, maximum; MSA-C: multiple system atrophy-cerebellar subtype; MSO, macro saccadic oscillation; OF, ocular flutter; Pt, patient; R, right beating nystagmus; REB, rebound; SCA, spinocerebellar ataxia; SN, spontaneous nystagmus; SN fix, spontaneous nystagmus with visual fixation; SN non-fix, spontaneous nystagmus without visual fixation; SO, saccadic oscillation; SWJ, square wave jerk; TC, time constant; +, present; –, normal or absent; \rightarrow , change to

Table 3. Maximus slow pahse velocity (SPV) and time constant (TC) of downbeat nystagmus during slow and fast straight head hanging (SHH) tests

		Ma	nual		Rotatory chair								
Pt	Max SPV TC				Max	TC							
	Slow	Fast	Slow	Fast	10°/s	20° /s	30° /s	40° /s	10°/s	20°/s	30°/s	40°/s	
1	0.0	14.5	-	3.4	8.7	14.6	14.7	16.5	7.1	7.8	6.3	4.5	
2	0.0	30.0	-	4.3	6.7	11.2	15.8	21.9	7.7	4.1	4.3	4.3	
3	0.0	16.0	-	7.4	11.4	16.4	20.3	18.2	2.9	4.0	3.8	4.1	
4	10.4	25.7	1.3	1.4	8.0	16.5	22.1	23.3	2.3	2.8	1.5	1.1	
5	12.3	23.1	3.7	6.2	9.2	12.1	12.1	13.5	3.0	4.9	4.3	5.7	
6	0.0	16.2	-	2.0	6.4	11.3	14.2	18.5	2.9	1.9	1.5	1.5	
7	0.0	19.8	-	2.0	0.0	6.5	17.4	24.1	-	3.0	2.6	2.4	
8	0.0	11.6	-	5.3	15.7	23.8	22.8	16.3	4.0	3.2	4.6	5.9	
9	0.0	19.5	-	4.5	8.5	14.0	16.5	19.5	2.6	4.0	4.2	3.7	
10	0.0	26.7	-	3.5	5.5	8.0	8.4	6.7	3.1	3.1	3.2	3.8	
11	0.0	35.9	-	2.7	16.8	17.0	19.4	22.4	1.0	2.8	2.7	2.7	
12	0.0	19.4	-	3.7	0.0	13.9	16.3	19.1	-	1.4	3.4	2.3	
13	0.0	26.1	-	3.5	7.6	8.3	10.4	13.8	3.6	3.3	5.7	2.0	
14	0.0	4.6	-	6.8	0.0	0.0	3.8	4.1	-	-	6.5	6.8	
15	0.0	23.6	-	1.1	0.0	23.2	27.4	35.1	-	0.8	1.4	1.3	

Table 3 Maximum slow pahse velocity (SPV) and time constant (TC) of downbeat nystagmus during slow and fast straight head hanging (SHH) tests (continued)

	Manual				Rotatory chair								
Pt	Max SPV TC			ТС	Max SPV					TC			
	Slow	Fast	Slow	Fast	10° /s	20° /s	30° /s	40°/s	10°/s	20°/s	30°/s	40°/s	
16	0.0	22.2	_	4.7	10.8	24.7	25.6	28.8	2.8	3.6	4.4	4.2	
17	0.0	17.5	-	2.7	13.8	21.2	26.0	30.2	2.3	2.4	2.1	1.9	
18	0.0	9.3	-	6.5	6.5	9.5	9.7	9.8	3.7	4.2	4.1	4.4	
19	0.0	6.8	-	3.3	0	0	0	0	_	-	_	_	
20	0.0	56.7	_	1.8	0	20.9	21.7	34.1	-	1.8	1.8	1.9	
21	0.0	65.6	-	2.7	16.9	32.5	44.6	55.2	1.4	2.7	2.9	2.7	

Pt, patient; SPV, slow phase velocity; TC, time constant; -, absent

국문 초록

배경: 중추체위안진(central positional nystagmus, CPN)은 양성돌발두위현훈(benign paroxysmal positional vertigo, BPPV)과 유사한 안진 양상을 보이기 때문에 임상의사의 관심이 많다. 중추체위안진은 병태생리학적으로 소뇌 또는 뇌간에 병변이 있는 경우 발생할 수 있다. 중추체위안진은 안진이 지속되는 시간에 따라 발작-중추체위안진(paroxysmal CPN)과 지속-중추체위안진(persistent CPN)으로 나눌 수 있다. 최근 연구에서 지속 및 발작 유형의 중추체위안진이 발생하는 기전에 대한 설명이 제시되었다. 지속-중추체위현훈은 머리의 회전, 중력 방향, 관성을측정하는 역할을 하는 뇌간과 소뇌에 위치한 속도저장회로(velocity-storage circuit)의 잘못된 신경처리로 설명할 수 있다. 반면, 발작-중추체위안진은 소뇌의 결절(nodulus)과 목젖(uvula)을 침범하는 병변으로 인해 체위를 변환하는 동안 이차 전정신경(secondary vestibular neurons)의 억제 및 강화 반응에 의해 생길 수 있다고 알려져 있으나, 발생 기전에 대해 앞으로 더 많은 연구가 필요하다.

목적: 머리를 똑바로 하고 뒤로 젖혀지게 눕는 자세인 straight head hanging (SHH)에 의해 유발되는 하방안진의 강도가 머리를 움직이는 속도에 의해 영향을 받는지 확인하여 발작-하방-중추체위안진의 발생 기전을 규명하고자 한다.

방법: 2018년 9월부터 2019년 7월까지 분당서울대학교병원 어지럼증센터에서 SHH 동안 발작-하방-중추체위안진이 유발되는 환자

4 2

21명을 전향적으로 모집하였다. 모든 환자는 수동자세변환 검사와 전동 회전의자를 이용한 자세변환 검사를 받았다. 수동자세변환검사는 빠른 속도와 느린 속도 두 가지 조건에서 시행되었으며, 회전의자를 이용한 자세변환검사에서는 10, 20, 30, 40 °/s의 서로 다른 회전 속도로 SHH 자세를 유도하였다. 자세변환검사로 유발된 안진은 비디오안구운동검사 장치를 이용하여 기록하였으며, 안진의 최대속도(maximum slow phase velocity)와 시간상수(time constant, TC)값을 결과 분석을 위한 변수로 사용하였다.

결과: 수동자세변환 검사로 유발된 발작-하방-중추체위안진은 빠른 속 도에서는예외 없이 모든 환자에서 유발되었지만, 느린 속도의 자세변환 검사에서는 나타나지 않거나 안진의 강도가 약했다. 회전의자를 이용한 자세변환검사에서 회전 속도가 증가함에 따라 안진의 최대속도도 증가하 였다. 회전속도 10°/s 에서 7.6°/s(0-16.9), 20°/s 에서 14.0°/s (0 -32.5), 30°/s 에서 16.5°/s (0 - 44.6) 그리고 40°/s 에서 19.1°/s (0 -55.2)였다 (*P* < 0.001, *P* < 0.001, *P* = 0.004; 선형 혼합 모델) 대조적으 로, 발작-하방-중추체위안진의 시간상수 값은 회전속도에 따라 영향을 받지 않았다(*P* = 0.558, *P* = 0.881, *P* = 0.384, 선형혼합모델).

결론: 머리 회전 속도와 안진 발생의 연관성은 발작-체위변환안진이 반 고리관에 전달된 신호의 증강된 억제반동(exaggerated inhibitory rebound) 에 의해 발생할 수 있다는 가설을 뒷바침한다.

주요어: 현훈, 안진, 중추체위안진, 하방안진, 기전

학 번 : 2019-32442

4 3

Acknowledgment

Time flies! The three-year doctoral life is coming to an end, and I am about to start a new chapter in my life. Looking back on the past, I am full of emotion. With the care and help of my teachers, classmates, and friends, I can complete my studies successfully. On completing this graduation thesis, I would like to express my sincerest thanks and best wishes to all my teachers, family members, and friends who have cared for and helped me.

First of all, I would like to thank my doctoral supervisor, Professor Ji-Soo Kim, and I am very honored to be your student. Your rigorous scientific research style, keen scientific research ideas, sleepless work attitude, and generous style of dealing with others will benefit me for a lifetime. I want to extend my highest respect and most sincere thanks to you here!

Secondly, I would like to thank teachers Hyo-Jung Kim, Jeong-Yoon Choi, Jong-Hee Lee, Ji-Hye Jang, Jeong-Mi Song, Jin-Ok Lee from the laboratory. Whenever I encountered unsolvable problems in my research or life, they always gave me timely and selfless help and guidance.

Thirdly, thanks to my good friends Ruiqi Shi, Bei Liu, Yunhe Li, Baoting Liu, and Jian Han for their care and help in my daily life;

Finally, I am deeply grateful to my family. Their selfless dedication

allowed me to complete my studies with peace of mind.